ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

OCT 21 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ARMANDO K. CHESTNUT,

APPELLANT

APPELLANT CASE NO. 2013-002123

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred by refusing to grant a new trial where it erroneously gave a Belcher instruction that the jury could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon where self-defense was a verdict option, and the judge's later instruction that "if there's self-defense, there's no inference that can be associated with the use of a deadly weapon," was hopelessly confusing, and exacerbated rather than cured the prejudice?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Horry County Grand Jury for one count of murder, one count of attempted murder, assault and battery in the first degree, assault and battery by a mob in the second degree with serious bodily injury, and pointing and presenting a firearm. R. 845 – R. 852 His case was called to trial on July 15, 2013 before the Honorable Steven H. John, and a jury. Barbara Pratt represented appellant. Bradley Richardson and Travis Hyman were the solicitors. R. 1.

On July 19, 2013 the jury found appellant guilty of voluntary manslaughter on the murder indictment as to Jamal McFadden. The jury found appellant guilty of the attempted murder as to Damien Canty. The jury also found appellant guilty of assault and battery in the second degree, and pointing and presenting a firearm. The jury found appellant not guilty as to the other serious bodily injury verdict options. R. 808, l. 14 – 809, l. 24.

Judge John then stated if he had discretion, given appellant's prior record, he would sentence him to thirty years imprisonment for voluntary manslaughter. However, the judge ruled that pursuant to South Carolina Code § 17-25-45 he did not have any discretion and he sentenced appellant to life imprisonment without parole for voluntary manslaughter and attempted murder. The judge imposed concurrent sentences on the assault and battery in the second degree, and pointing and presenting a firearm counts. R. 820, l. 15 – 821, l. 6.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The court erred by refusing to grant a new trial where it erroneously gave a Belcher instruction that the jury could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon where self-defense was a verdict option, and the judge's later instruction that "if there's self-defense, there's no inference that can be associated with the use of a deadly weapon," was hopelessly confusing, and exacerbated rather than cured the prejudice.

Relevant Facts

This case involves the March 6, 2012 shooting at the 3rd Avenue Sports Bar in Myrtle Beach. John Wayne Feaster, Jr. was the owner of the bar. R. 70, l. 12 – 71, l. 15. Feaster remembered that Monday, March 5, 2012 was "Jamaican Night." R. 72, ll. 20-23. Feaster testified that there were Jamaicans who came to Myrtle Beach every summer and frequented his bar. R. 73, ll. 4-23.

Feaster recalled there was an argument that late March 6, 2012 night between the "Myrtle Beach crowd against the Hemingway crowd." The argument was about a pool game, and the money bet on it. R. 74, ll. 2-15. Feaster remembered seeing "arguing at a pool table and then they start fighting, pushing and stuff. I went over there and escorted them outside." R. 75, ll. 2-8.

Feaster claimed that his bouncers searched everyone entering into the club. He also had twelve video cameras around the bar. R. 75, l. 15 – 76, l. 21.

Feaster said once outside the club he remembered "Thoro," a friend of appellant, being hit with a bottle. "Everybody start fighting. I seen a gun go up in the air." Feaster also "thought" he heard a gunshot. Feaster admitted that after watching the videotape of the

incident his memory of what he thought had happened was not as clear anymore. R. 78, l. 5 – 79, l. 8.

Feaster acknowledged that Thoro had left the bar and walked to his car before he was attacked. Feaster said the videotape showed that Canty, one of the victims, "Hit Thoro with the bottle. . . and hits him right over the head. . . And Thoro goes down pretty hard." R. 110, l. 7 – 112, l. 19. Feaster acknowledged that three to four men had jumped on Thoro outside the club that evening. R. 113, ll. 13-16.

Feaster also recalled that the man who was killed outside the bar, Jamal McFadden, had earlier been arguing inside the bar about the pool game. Somebody wielded a pool stick during the argument. R. 79, l. 7 – 80, l. 13. One of the "Hemingway boys" with dreadlocks had "grabbed the pool cue," and started fighting with one of the other men. R. 110, l. 7 – 111, l. 10.

The videotape from the bar, "six video clips," was played for the jury. It is now on file with this Court. R. 83, l. 11 – 84, l. 18. Feaster identified appellant as one of the men on the videotape. R. 95, ll. 10-11.

On cross-examination, Feaster said about ten to twelve men from Hemingway arrived at about 11:00 or 11:30 that night. R. 108, ll. 3-13. Feaster said the Hemingway men and the Myrtle Beach men: "All of them know each other." R. 108, ll. 14-20. He identified men on the videotape that he knew as "Thoro, Barney and Gucci." Appellant explained to the jury what happened that evening. R. 108, l. 25 – 109, l. 9. He had his "small gun" in his pocket the entire time he was at the bar.

Appellant told the jurors that he had lived in Myrtle Beach all his life. He lived only four or five minutes away from the 3rd Avenue Sports Bar. R. 601, ll. 4-11.

He remembered on March 5, 2012 his girlfriend, Annaliese, wanted to go to the 3rd Avenue Sports Bar, "and all the other clubs" that appellant frequented. R. 602, l. 8 – 603, l. 1. They first went to Sam's Beer Garden, then to the Jet Age, and finally to the 3rd Avenue Sports Bar. They arrived about 12:30. R. 603, ll. 1-11.

When they got to the Sports Bar "everything was cool when I first got there." Appellant bought two drinks. He and his girlfriend were sitting by the window while "some guys were shooting pool." R. 603, l. 16 – 604, l. 20. Appellant saw his friends Thoro, Gremlin, and "Gucci" inside the bar. He also remembered seeing a lot of "Jamaican people." R. 605, l. 1 – 606, l. 7.

Appellant remembered that Gucci was shooting pool, and he thought they were placing a "\$100 bet" on each game. "Gucci won the game," and "Thoro was wanting to bet more, wanted to bet on another game. . . he wanted to bet like two or three more hundred dollars on the next game." R. 606, ll. 2-23. "[I] know Thoro, you know; I'm telling him like chill out, man, like you got the money . . . Like you won the bet so you got the money, leave it alone. . ." R. 607, ll. 5-22. Appellant told his girlfriend not to worry about the situation, the men were just betting on the pool game, and that's why they started arguing.

Instead, however, "the argument got real out of hand and then one of the guys grabbed a pool stick." The man who grabbed the pool stick was a slim black man with dreadlocks. R. 608, ll. 9-21.

Appellant referred the jury to the videotape of the incident. He told the jurors: "[I]f you watch the camera closely, you will see Michael Spivey come from the back of the pool table and grab the pool stick and then you see, well you see the bouncer and Mike get there

about the same time, but Mike [is] right behind the guy with the pool stick.” R. 608, l. 9 – 609, l. 4.

Appellant remembered that the arguing continued. “I heard some guys was like saying they was going to get their guns and this and that, what not, . . .” R. 609, ll. 8-18. The fighting escalated, and appellant testified that he did not notice Thoro leaving the club. Appellant’s girlfriend told him she thought Thoro had gone to the restroom, and he continued to look around for Thoro. R. 609, l. 22 – 611, l. 24.

Appellant did not see Thoro get hit in the head with the beer bottle, but he did see two or three men jumping on Thoro. R. 612, ll. 1-9. Appellant told the jury that he had his “little gun” in his pocket the entire evening including when they went into the bar. “We never got searched because I guess the bouncer wasn’t there at the door at the time.” R. 612, l. 18 – 613, l. 7.

Appellant went to his girlfriend’s car during the argument, and “I put the phone up and I put the weed up” in the car. He ran to help Thoro, and “I see Corey got the gun in his hand. At first I didn’t know it was Corey. I thought it was, I thought it was one of them but then I looked again and it was Corey. . . Corey was coming down hitting one of the guys with the gun. And when they fell . . . like before I turned this curve right here, a gunshot [went] off.” Appellant did not know who was shooting. R. 614, l. 6 – 615, l. 15.

Appellant testified: “I was going over there to scare the guys off Thoro. But when I heard the gunshot, I shot and I hit Canty in the arm.” R. 616, ll. 8-10. Appellant did not immediately know he had hit Canty but that “everybody that was on Thoro and Corey backed off.” Appellant shot because he was defending Thoro and Corey who had come to Thoro’s aid. R. 616, ll. 16-24. Appellant testified that he shot only three times. He

admitted he shot Canty in the elbow, and he also shot the window out of a van. R. 618, l. 5 – 620, l. 6.

Appellant pointed the jury to the videotape and told them that the film clearly showed a big man “swung at me and I did not swing at him first.” A larger man hit appellant, and appellant admitted he kicked another man. However, appellant did not know this man was unconscious when he kicked him. Appellant pointed out that the video showed that Feaster, “the owner of the club, was pushing me. If you could look and see the camera, I don’t even hit him but one kick. That’s the only thing I get - - I hit him with was one kick. The other two kicks, I didn’t never, they never landed on him.” Appellant said his girlfriend was upset by the situation and that Feaster, the bar owner, was “pushing me away.” “We got in the car and we left.” R. 621, ll. 2-20.

Appellant said he explained to his girlfriend that the men were jumping on Thoro, his friend, and he came to Thoro’s aid. Appellant said that Thoro could have been killed during this violent encounter. R. 621, l. 23 – 622, l. 21. Appellant told his girlfriend he did not think he hit anybody “but I did scare everybody off Thoro.” R. 622, ll. 1-21.

Appellant’s girlfriend, Annaleise Testa, as a state’s witness confirmed that appellant later told her “they were arguing over the pool game and money and how the shooting happened outside and his friend was getting jumped. And I asked him if he fired his gun and he said yes.” Annaleise said appellant told her that “he thought he fired it at the one with dreads . . . He told me he fired once.” She said she did not know who the man in dreads was at the time, but at the time of trial thought it might be Jamal McFadden. R. 229, l. 20 – 230, l. 17.

On cross-examination, Annaleise admitted appellant told her that "somebody hit his friend in the head . . . [and] people were outside shooting." She entered into a proffer agreement with the state through her attorney Fran Humphries, and she agreed to testify for the state. R. 249, ll. 2-21.

The following day appellant was driving his girlfriend home when a police car pulled in behind him. Appellant said he was scared, and "I threw the gun out the window." The police stopped him and arrested him, "and he asked me what I threw out the window." Appellant acknowledged he knew it was a crime to carry a gun, and that is why he discarded it when he saw the police. R. 627, l. 25 – 629, l. 24.

Appellant maintained that the videotape supported his testimony that he did not shoot the man who eventually died, McFadden, in the incident. R. 636, ll. 1-19. Appellant said he repeatedly told the police that he was responsible for Canty getting shot in the elbow. However, he did not shoot the man that died. R. 640, ll. 4-22.

Appellant told the jury that the videotape "itself showed" that he had not killed anyone. He only went to the bar to have "a drink with my girlfriend," he was not expecting anything to happen, and he only went to the aid of his friends. R. 648, l. 1 – 649, l. 18. Appellant said he was sorry for the family of dead man but that he was only attempting to "scare those fellows off," and that he did not kill the man that died. R. 649, ll. 1-18.

On cross-examination appellant told the solicitor that he had smoked marijuana that evening, and that he had been drinking before the police interrogated him. Appellant told the solicitor that he honestly admitted he shot a man in the elbow but he again added that he was not responsible for shooting the man who died. R. 663, l. 14 – 664, l. 24. Appellant repeatedly told the solicitor that his main concern was Thoro getting throttled in the parking

lot. However, he did not go to his car to get his gun because he had it with him the entire time inside the bar.¹ R. 691, l. 8 – 692, l. 25.

Jury Instructions

The judge told the attorneys he was going to charge self-defense based on the evidence. R. 706, l. 16 – 711, l. 1.

Following the solicitor's closing argument defense counsel said she was concerned because the solicitor had argued that malice could be inferred from appellant being armed since self-defense was involved in this case. The judge said that he did not think he was going to instruct about an inference of malice, and the solicitor agreed that the inference of malice instruction had been "stricken from the charge." The judge responded: "I'm not going to say [charge] that." R. 762, l. 20 – 764, l. 10. At this point it appeared there would be no problem with the jury instruction, and that a State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009) instruction would not be given.

However, the judge did, in fact, instruct that "inferred malice can also arise when the deed is done with a deadly weapon. A deadly weapon is any kind of article, instrument or substance which is likely to cause the death or great bodily harm [to another person]. Whether an instrument has been used as a deadly weapon depends on the facts and circumstances of each case." R. 777, ll. 10-16.

¹ Defense counsel moved for a directed verdict on self-defense as a matter of law. She told the judge: There's clearly evidence of self-defense from their own witnesses, from Cory, from statements made by Mr. Feaster who are the fact witnesses. And from obviously reviewing the video, there are issues of defense -- of self-defense and defense of others." The solicitor argued: I believe the state has at least met its burden with regard to a directed verdict. The judge denied the directed verdict motion after a lengthy ruling. R. 486, l. 16 – 492, l. 8.

The judge would acknowledge at the subsequent new trial hearing that he knew he made a mistake as soon as he read this instruction to the jury because it had not been removed from his charge book on murder. R. 840, l. 16 – 841, l. 6.

Exceptions to the charge

Defense counsel took exception to the judge charging the inference of malice based on a deadly weapon since this was a self-defense case. Defense counsel also said the judge should charge the jury that self-defense was applicable to each crime charged in this case. R. 797, l. 18 – 799, l. 5.

The judge responded that he was going to charge the jury that self-defense was applicable to each charge, and “there can be no inference of malice by use of a deadly weapon.” R. 799, ll. 6-18.

However, the judge then instructed the jury as follows:

THE COURT: All right. Ladies and gentlemen, it's been called to my attention that I should bring something to your attention and I believe it's proper to do so and it's in regards to self-defense. Self-defense is applicable to every crime charged, just to be clear about that. It's applicable to every single crime charged in this matter. Now, if self-defense has been established - - and I remind you now, it's the State's burden to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. Again, the State has that burden on everything. It is a complete defense. And in particular, murder and attempted murder, there can be no inference of malice by the use of a deadly weapon. **If there's self-defense, there is no inference that can be associated with the use of a deadly weapon. It's not - - that's not proper in self-defense if its established.** And again, the State has the burden of disproving it beyond a reasonable doubt.

R. 800, ll. 7-22 (emphasis added).

The jury later returned requesting a further charge on murder and voluntary manslaughter. Defense counsel also asked the judge to instruct that self-defense was a

complete defense. The judge stated he would only ask the jury if they wanted any further instruction on self-defense. R. 802, l. 20 – 804, l. 2. The judge then instructed the jury again on the elements of murder and voluntary manslaughter. He concluded by saying “is there any other aspect of the law that you would like the court to go over including but not limited to self-defense or any other aspect of law? Anything else?” The jury apparently did not make any further requests. R. 804, l. 5 – 806, l. 25.

An hour and ten minutes later the jury reached its verdict of guilty of voluntary manslaughter and guilty of attempted murder.

Motion for a new trial

Appellant moved for a new trial because, inter alia the judge’s Belcher “inferred malice instruction” coupled with his recharge to the jury was hopelessly confusing. A hearing on the new trial motion was held on September 4, 2013. Barbara Pratt again represented appellant and Bradley Richardson was the assistant solicitor. Defense counsel argued that the judge’s instruction that malice could be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon was “most troubling to the defense.” She reminded the judge that State v. Belcher held that in a self-defense case it was improper to charge the inference of malice from the use of a deadly weapon. R. 827, l. 9 – 828, l. 11. Defense counsel argued that the judge’s Belcher instruction, **and then** his discussion of self-defense and the inference of malice was “confusing and prejudicial.” R. 830, l. 17 – 833, l. 5.

The solicitor maintained that the judge’s subsequent instruction solved any prejudice. R. 833, l. 7 – 837, l. 17. The judge responded:

As to the jury charge, again, I said that at the time of the trial when the matter was raised to the Court’s attention after the charge. **I had deleted it, it came back on the screen, I read it, I shouldn’t have, I acknowledged that at**

the time. I called the jury back in. I was very clear telling them it was not part of the case. I think it was a proper curative instruction immediately after the charge. Thereafter the jury, on its own, several hours later, came back and asked for a recharging of murder and voluntary manslaughter, **and I indicated at the time we weren't going to go back and make the same error that I had made previously,** and I charged them properly on murder and voluntary manslaughter. They did not hear anything that they should not have. I specifically asked the jury if they wanted any other things charged to them. I asked them, you know, including but not limited to self-defense, did they want to hear that again.

R. 840, l. 16 – 841, l. 6.

The judge refused to grant a new trial based on the erroneous “inference of malice from the use of a deadly weapon” instruction, and counsel’s argument that his instructions in full were confusing and prejudicial as to self-defense and an inference of malice. R. 843, 22, ll. 2-7.

Written Order

In his order denying a new trial, the judge ruled:

“Regarding the jury instruction concerning the inference of Malice: while the Court should not have given the instruction, when objected to by the Defendant, the Court gave the proper curative instruction, further, upon request by the jury to be recharged on “Murder” and “Voluntary Manslaughter,” the Court properly omitted any reference to the inference of Malice by Use of a Deadly Weapon and offered to give a further charge of Self-Defense, which offer was rejected by the foreman of the jury;

Supp. R. 1-2 (Order Denying Motion for New Trial – Amended).

Discussion

As seen, the trial judge acknowledged his error in charging that malice could be implied from the use of a deadly weapon. The State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009) instruction clearly was improper in this case since self-defense was also an issue. Obviously, self-defense is a complete defense to the charge of murder, and the prejudice

from such an "implied malice" instruction is enormous. The jury was instructed that if the victim was shot with a deadly weapon it could infer malice from the shooting. The victims were clearly shot with a deadly weapon. The self-defense instruction therefore was hopelessly confusing when coupled with the "inference of malice" from the use of the deadly weapon instruction. A person shooting in self-defense cannot also be acting with malice since he was engaged in the legal activity of saving himself, or another, from an illegal aggressor. Yet the jury was instructed if a deadly weapon was involved, that malice could be inferred from the shooting.

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