ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Horry County  
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED  
OCT 21 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

v.

ARMANDO K. CHESTNUT,

Appellant

Appellate Case No. 2013-002123

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 5758  
South Carolina Attorney General's Office  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
803-734-6305

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit  
P. O. Drawer 1276

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

**THE POWERFUL CORRECTIVE CURATIVE INSTRUCTION  
REMOVED ANY ERROR BY REMOVING THE INFERENCE OF  
MALICE FROM THE USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON FROM THE  
JURY’S CONSIDERATION.**

Here, Judge John conceded that he mistakenly gave the instruction on inference of malice by the use of a deadly weapon. However, he immediately corrected the mistake and gave a corrective and curative instruction directing the jury that there was no inference of malice in the murder and attempted murder case. Specifically he stated:

**And in particular, murder and attempted murder, there can be no inference of malice by the use of a deadly weapon. If there's self-defense, there is no inference that can be associated with the use of a deadly weapon. It's not — that's not proper in self-defense if it's established.** And again, the State has the burden of disproving it beyond a reasonable doubt.

R. 800, Tr.p. 941, ll. 7-22.

Respondent submits that no reasonable juror listened to the instructions would have thought otherwise. The court’s recantation of the initial charge was quick and unambiguous

---

<sup>4</sup> Both parties were of the opinion that the inference of malice was not going to be charged: Supp.R. 4, Rp. 763, Tr.p. 832, 904. The trial court had agreed that it would not be charged. R. 763-64, Tr.p. 904-905. Judge John later blamed a computer glitch on it being included in the initial instruction. R. 830, 840-41, September 4, 2013 Tr.p. 9, 19-21.

**“there can be no inference of malice by the use of a deadly weapon.”** This curative instruction was more powerful than Belcher required and more favorable to a defendant by precluding the inference of malice by the use of a deadly weapon. **Belcher allowed the State to still argue the inference. This firm curative instruction would have been interpreted to have removed that inferred malice through the use of a deadly weapon basis!** Simply put, the curative instruction benefitted the defendant beyond what Belcher would have required. It was not confusing. See U.S. v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 740, 113 S.Ct. 1770, 123 L.Ed.2d 508 (1993) (noting “the almost invariable assumption of the law that jurors follow their instructions”) (quoting Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. 200, 206, 107 S.Ct. 1702, 95 L.Ed.2d 176 (1987)).

Contrary to the claims within the brief of appellant, Judge John did withdraw the inadvertent instruction by the strong curative instruction. It was not superimposed over a bad instruction. To the contrary, it rejected the prior language of the inference with clear directives to the jury. More importantly, it was done immediately after the initial instructions and prior to the beginning of deliberations. In addition, when the jury asked for re-instruction on murder and manslaughter, the language did not include the “inference of malice through use of a deadly weapon” and only referred to any inference of malice as “malice can be inferred from a showing by the State beyond a reasonable doubt of conduct that shows a total disregard for human life.” R. 804-05, Tr. p. 945, l. 10- p. 946, l. 10. (emphasis added). A new trial is not warranted.

**DEFENSE RECEIVED THE ONLY REQUESTED RELIEF OF THE CURATIVE INSTRUCTION AND DID NOT REQUEST A MISTRIAL**

As reflected in the summary of how the issue was presented, it is clear that no request for mistrial was made at the time of the initial instructions and the sole remedy sought was a curative instruction. This instruction included the language that the defense counsel requested:

I think a charge that states that if they find — **if they believe the Defendant to have acted in self-defense then there is no inference of malice in the use of deadly weapon because it is a complete defense.**

R. 797, Tr. p. 938, ll. 20-24.

Here, the trial judge sustained the objection concerning his mistaken inclusion of the inference language. The matter was later discussed at length among trial counsel and the trial judge. The defense sought no further relief below beyond the curative instruction that she partially drafted.<sup>5</sup>

**It is a complete defense. And in particular, murder and attempted murder, there can be no inference of malice by the use of a deadly weapon. If there's self-defense, there is no inference that can be associated with the use of a deadly weapon. It's not — that's not proper in self-defense if it's established.** And again, the State has the burden of disproving it beyond a reasonable doubt.

R. 800, Tr.p. 941, ll. 7-22. Inasmuch as the Appellant obtained the only relief he sought, this Court has no issue to decide. State v. Brown, 274 S.C. 48, 260 S.E.2d 719 (1979); State v. Sinclair, 275 S.C. 608, 610, 274 S.E.2d 411, 412 (1981).<sup>6</sup> Relief must be denied.

#### **ISSUE NOT PRESERVED BY TIMELY OBJECTION TO THE CURATIVE INSTRUCTION**

Appellant made no objections to the form of the curative charge when given. R. 797, 800, 807, Tr.p. 938-94, 948. An error is deemed to be cured if a curative instruction is given. State v. George, 323 S.C. 496, 476 S.E.2d 903 (1996), cert. denied, 520 U.S. 1123, 117 S.Ct. 1261, 137 L.Ed.2d 340 (1997). A contemporaneous objection to the sufficiency of a curative charge must be made to preserve the issue for appellate review. *Id.* Since Appellant made no objection to the

---

<sup>5</sup> Concerning the curative instruction which she proposed, a party cannot complain of error his own conduct has induced. State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 508 S.E.2d 857 (1998)(appellant may not on appeal object to use of substituted phrase in jury charge because he asked for change and judge agreed); State v. Stroman, 281 S.C. 508, 316 S.E.2d 395 (1984).

<sup>6</sup> A party cannot seek and receive a particular result at trial and then challenge it on appeal. Bowman v. Bowman, 357 S.C. 146, 591 S.E.2d 654 (Ct. App. 2004).

curative charge as given, this issue is not preserved for our review. See State v. Greene, 330 S.C. 551, 561, 499 S.E.2d 817, 822 (Ct. App. 1997).<sup>7</sup> To the contrary, the defense endorsed the curative instruction and advised the trial court that it was acceptable. R. 798, Tr. p. 939, ll. 12-10. See State v Moyd, 321 S.C. 256, 468 S.E.2d 7 (Ct. App. 1996)(if the objecting party accepts the ruling of the trial judge and does not contemporaneously object to the sufficiency of the curative instruction or move for a mistrial, error deemed cured and issue not preserved for appellate review); Kalchthaler v. Workman, 316 S.C. 499, 450 S.E.2d 621 (Ct. App. 1994); State v. Morris, 307 S.C. 480, 415 S.E.2d 819 (Ct. App. 1991)(no issue preserved for appellate review if objecting party accepts judge's ruling on evidence and does not make an additional objection to the sufficiency of the curative charge or move for a mistrial).

Because a trial court's curative instruction is considered to cure any error regarding improper testimony, a party must contemporaneously object to a curative instruction as insufficient *or* move for a mistrial to preserve an issue for review. State v George, 323 S.C. at 510, 476 S.E.2d at 912; State v Patterson, 337 S.C. at 226, 522 S.E.2d at 850. Therefore, this issue may not be preserved for review because the trial court sustained defense counsel's objections and gave a thorough curative instruction without objection or request for a mistrial. See State v. Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 658-59, 623 S.E.2d 122, 130 (Ct. App. 2005).

Here, it appears that the mistrial request based upon the curative instruction and second instruction was first made after the verdict. R. 812, Tr.p. 956. Until the verdict against him had

---

<sup>7</sup> In Greene, the defense asserted for the first time in the appeal that a second curative instruction failed to properly correct an error of the first curative instruction. Like Appellant in this case, Greene made no objection to the forms of the curative charge, in fact giving the language to the trial judge. See R. 797, Tr. p. 938, ll. 20-24. In particular, defense counsel found the language of the curative instruction to be acceptable when asked. R. 798, Tr.p. 939, ll. 12-120. See also, R. 799-800, Tr.p. 940-941 (no addition or objection); R. 801, p. 942 (no addition or objection after the curative charge); R. 804-05, p. 945-946 (no additions or requests after the jury requested re-instruction on murder and manslaughter which did not include the inference of malice through the use of a deadly weapon instruction).

resulted in a guilty verdict on attempted murder, Chestnut had not asserted the curative instruction was confusing in combination with the inadvertent inference instruction.<sup>8</sup> One may not take his chance of a favorable verdict and, after an unfavorable one, raise an objection that should have been made before the verdict was rendered. State v. Mayfield, 235 S.C. 11, 23-24, 109 S.E.2d 716, 724 (1959). When an instruction as given is allegedly inadequate, a party must request further instructions or object at the completion of the instructions in order to preserve the issue for review. State v. Avery, 333 S.C. 284, 509 S.E.2d 476 (1999); State v. Ard, 332 S.C. 370, 505 S.E.2d 328 (1998)(appellant argued for first time on appeal that trial judge's instructions to "assume" life imprisonment and death sentence should be understood in their ordinary and plain meanings was error); State v. Hornsby, 326 S.C. 121, 484 S.E.2d 869 (1997)(appellant did not request trial judge instruct jury that the sentencing consequences for a guilty or guilty but mentally ill verdict are the same; therefore, could not complain that the jury was misled because they thought guilty but mentally ill was a lesser verdict).

The Appellant parses the curative instruction and contends that it was unworkable and confusing because he contends that if the jury were to determine that he was not guilty of self-defense then it could not apply the inference of malice. This is not confusing, but correct under Belcher. However, defense counsel ignores the more powerful ameliorating language in the instruction that "in particular, murder and attempted murder, there can be no inference of malice by the use of a deadly weapon." However, the Appellant then challenges the language that the defense counsel propounded to the trial judge in a self-defense case there can be no inference of

---

<sup>8</sup> The reason why the defense did not object is self-evident since the curative instruction could be read to remove the possibility of the inference of malice through the use of a deadly weapon, something that Belcher authorized a prosecutor to argue. To the extent the prosecution argument could be construed to have argued this, the curative instruction underline a basis for the state's case! The defense had been given a windfall in the curative instruction due to Judge John's inadvertent error.

malice. He misreads the instruction as a whole. The trial judge's self-defense component supports the previous sentence that there can be no inference of malice by a deadly weapon in a murder or attempted robbery case which includes cases of self-defense, not limited to cases of self-defense as he now suggests. Again, his argument before this court is the opposite of what she argued in requesting the similar instruction when Judge John made it. This instruction included the language that the defense counsel requested:

I think a charge that states that if they find — **if they believe the Defendant to have acted in self-defense then there is no inference of malice in the use of deadly weapon because it is a complete defense.**

R. 797, Tr. p. 938, ll. 20-24. A party cannot seek and receive a particular result at trial and then challenge it on appeal. Bowman v. Bowman, 357 S.C. 146, 591 S.E.2d 654 (Ct. App. 2004).

This issue is also further not preserved because it was raised for the first time in the post-verdict oral motion for new trial. See R. 812, Tr.p. 956, See State v. Robinson, 238 S.C. 140, 150, 119 S.E.2d 671, 676 (1961)(stating South Carolina does not permit a party disappointed by a verdict to employ a motion for a new trial to raise, for the first time, an error committed at trial). Failure to contemporaneously object to the question now advanced as prejudicial cannot be later bootstrapped by a motion for a mistrial. State v. Lynn, 277 S.C. 222, 226, 284 S.E.2d 786, 789 (1981)<sup>9</sup>; State v. Groome, 274 S.C. 189, 262 S.E.2d 31 (1980); State v. Atchison, 268 S.C. 588, 235 S.E.2d 294 (1977), cert. denied 434 U.S. 894, 98 S.Ct. 273, 54 L.Ed.2d 181 (1977).

### **ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS ERROR**

---

<sup>9</sup> In Lynn, the Court found an objection to evidence was waived when first presented in a later motion for a mistrial. Lynn alleged that the trial court erred in refusing to grant a mistrial when evidence of appellant's bad moral character was introduced by two of the State's witnesses. The first witness volunteered testimony concerning appellant's involvement with the law in Florida. No objection was made to the introduction of the testimony, but appellant's counsel moved for a mistrial after the State completed its case. State v. Lynn, 277 S.C. 222, 226, 284 S.E.2d 786, 789 (1981). Like Lynn, here no motion for mistrial was made until after the verdict.

Respondent submits that any error in the instructions was harmless error. Erroneous jury instructions are subject to a harmless error analysis. State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 611, 685 S.E.2d 802, 809 (2009).<sup>10</sup> Jury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole, they are free from error, any isolated portions which may be misleading do not constitute reversible error. State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000). A trial court's decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied. State v. Burkhardt, 350 S.C. 252, 263, 565 S.E.2d 298, 304 (2002); State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 94, 747 S.E.2d 444, 449 (2013).

Error in charging a proposition of law is not necessarily reversible. In order to constitute reversible error, the court must be satisfied that there are reasonable grounds for supposing that the jury might have been misled to the prejudice of the appellant. State v. Martin, 122 S.C. 286, 115 S.E. 252; State v. Washington, 80 S.C. 376, 61 S.E. 896; State v. Johnson, 159 S.C. 165, 156 S.E. 353; State v. Woods, 189 S.C. 281, 1 S.E.2d 190, 194-95 (1939).

As to the manslaughter verdict, it is incontestable that any inference of malice instruction would necessarily be harmless error. Since the jury did not find the necessary element of malice with a manslaughter verdict, the inadvertent malice instruction could not have contributed to the verdict. Since the jury did not find malice, they did not infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon. Here, the jury found that Appellant acted without malice by convicting Appellant of voluntary manslaughter. See State v. Pilgrim, 320 S.C. 409, 414, 465 S.E.2d 108, 111 (Ct.App.1995), *overruled on other grounds*, State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 479 S.E.2d 50 (1996)

---

<sup>10</sup> In Belcher, the Supreme Court observed that often in murder cases there will be overwhelming evidence of malice, apart from the use of a deadly weapon. *Id.* at n. 8 ("In many, if not most, murder cases the [inferred malice from the use of a deadly weapon] charge will be harmless, even if couched in terms of a presumption. Here, the evidence of malice in the attempted murder case is not limited to the use of a deadly weapon. See Belcher, 385 S.C. at 612, 685 S.E.2d at 810 ("It is entirely conceivable that the only evidence of malice was Belcher's use of a handgun."). See State v. Stanko, 402 S.C. 252, 264, 741 S.E.2d 708, 714, *reh'g denied* (Apr. 3, 2013), *cert. denied* (Oct. 7, 2013), *cert. denied*, 134 S. Ct. 247, 187 L. Ed. 2d 183 (U.S.S.C. 2013)

(“The distinction between murder and manslaughter is the presence of malice in murder and the absence of malice in manslaughter.”). The jury's ultimate verdict demonstrates that the trial court's inadvertent inference from the use of a deadly weapon instruction did not preclude the jury from seriously considering the evidence of self-defense, justification and excuse presented at trial. Accordingly, we find the trial court's instruction that the jury could infer malice from Appellant's use of a deadly weapon was harmless error. Accord State v. Spriggs, No. 2013-UP-435, 2013 WL 8541581, at \*3 (S.C. Ct. App. Nov. 27, 2013) rev'd, No. 2015-MO-034, 2015 WL 3649565 (S.C. June 10, 2015).

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